
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Sheila Dykes 
 

Email: sheila.dykes@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Thursday 5 February 2026 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will meet in the Council 
Chamber - Town Hall, Huddersfield at 10.00 am on Friday 13 February 
2026. 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee members are:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Cahal Burke (Chair) 
Councillor Itrat Ali 
Councillor Zarina Amin 
Councillor Andrew Cooper 
Councillor Jo Lawson 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
To receive apologies for absence from those Members who are 
unable to attend the meeting. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Declaration of Interests 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests or any other 
interests, which may prevent them from participating in any 
discussion of the items or participating in any vote upon the items. 
 

 
 

1 - 2 

3:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Committee. 
 

 
 

 

4:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also submit a petition 
at the meeting relating to a matter on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, Members of the 
Public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 
notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 
 

 
 

 



 

 

5:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 
 

 
 

 

6:   Integrated Library Hubs: Early Learning, Community 
Engagement, and Place-Based Support for the Future 
 
The report presents early learning in respect of the ten integrated 
Library Hubs across Kirklees and how this is informing the future 
development of the service model. 
 
Contact: Mags Rogerson, Head of Local Integrated Partnerships 
 

 
 

3 - 20 

7:   Member Development Framework 
 
The report sets out details of the draft Member Development 
Framework that seeks to support the development of all Councillors 
in Kirklees, providing them with the skills and knowledge to carry out 
their roles. 
 
Contact: Leigh Webb, Head of Governance  
 

 
 

21 - 34 

 
 



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

CarolineBateman
Typewritten Text

CarolineBateman_1
Typewritten Text

CarolineBateman_2
Typewritten Text
Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 2



 
 

REPORT TITLE: Integrated Library Hubs: Early Learning, Community Engagement, and 
Place-Based Support for the Future 
  

Meeting:  
 

Overview Scrutiny and Management 
Committee 

Date:  
 

13/02/2026 

Cabinet Member (if applicable) 
 

Cllr Pinnock 

Key Decision 
Eligible for Call In 
 

No 
No – If no give reason Scrutiny report 

Purpose of Report  
 
This report presents early learning from the ten Integrated Library Hubs across Kirklees, 
highlighting: 
 

 the clear benefits delivered for residents and the wider system 

 how the model provides flexible, inclusive, place‑based access to council and partner 
services 

 how early learning is shaping the next phase of development 
 

It also outlines the critical role of partners, volunteers and community networks in maximising 
impact. 
 

Recommendations  
 

 To note the progress made on the Integrated Library Hub model 

 To note next steps and provide feedback to inform future direction 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

 To ensure continued development of the service model 
 

Resource Implications: 
 
None, the model is being delivered within its current budget parameters. 
 

Date signed off by Executive Director & 
name 
 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Legal Governance and 
Commissioning (Monitoring Officer)? 
 

 
08/01/2026 
Michelle Cross  
Executive Director – Adults and Health  
 
13/01/2026 
Kevin Mulvaney 
Service Director – Finance  
 
13/01/2026 
Samantha Lawton  
Service Director - Legal, Governance and 
Commissioning (Monitoring Officer) 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



 
Electoral wards affected: All 
 
Ward councillors consulted:  Cllr Pinnock Cabinet member for Communities and Environment 
 
Public or private: Public Report 
 
Has GDPR been considered? Yes, no personal identifiable data or information is included 
within this report. 
 
1. Executive Summary 

 
The Integrated Library Hubs have rapidly become Kirklees’ most accessible, trusted and 
flexible gateway to information, council services, learning and community support. They: 
 

 Provide local access to the library network within two miles for 92% of residents 

 Resolve 63% of enquiries in under five minutes, demonstrating high efficiency 

 Support over 46,000 quick digital/transactional tasks and 2,000 plus complex enquiries 
requiring deeper help 

 Delivered a 31% rise in library IT sessions, showing increased confidence and digital 
inclusion 

 Operate within budget while supporting a £950k saving  
 

Integrated library hubs combine books, lifelong learning, cultural activity, digital inclusion, 
face‑to‑face support and access to wider services in one welcoming space. They connect 
people not only to information or support but to early help, wellbeing support, employability, 
social connection and preventative services. 
The model is intentionally flexible and scalable, adapting to the needs of different localities 
from busy town‑ centre hubs to smaller rural libraries and supporting everything from 
unassisted digital access to full one‑ to‑ one enabling support.  
 
Ongoing learning and development are informing stronger data capture, improving digital 
pathways, enhancing work with Adult Social Care and health partners, and the expansion 
of targeted face‑to‑face clinics. 
In addition, over 400 volunteers play a vital role in strengthening the hub offer, leading 
community activities, supporting digital access, and helping create welcoming, inclusive 
spaces across all 24 library sites 
 
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
Background 
 
The Integrated Library Hub model was developed following service transformation and 
extensive community engagement. It replaces a siloed approach previously delivered 
through two customer service centres in Dewsbury and Huddersfield. 
The model was founded on a core principle: any resident should be able to walk into any 
hub and receive the support they need without navigating complex structures or specialist 
teams. This single‑front‑door approach ensures consistency, reduces duplication, and 
enables staff to provide responsive, enabling support. 
Following pilots in Huddersfield and Dewsbury, learning was used to inform an eight‑hub 

roll‑out across Kirklees. The model is intentionally adaptive and evolves with changing 
community needs. Hubs bring together: 
 

 books, culture, learning and literacy Page 4



 self‑service digital facilities 

 face‑to‑face support for council services 

 community activities and wellbeing programmes 

 partnership services delivered in accessible, non‑stigmatising spaces. 
 

The model now operates across ten Library Hub locations Huddersfield, Holmfirth, 
Heckmondwike, Dewsbury, Batley, Cleckheaton, Birstall, Ravensthorpe, Almondbury, and 
Kirkburton, providing localised access to services that were previously centralised. This 
expansion has significantly improved accessibility and digital inclusion, helping residents 
build confidence and resilience through supported self-service. See Appendix A Locality 
Maps 
 
 
How library hubs support and enable citizens to access the information and 
services they require 
 
See Appendix B for model of support. 
 
The Library Hub model builds upon the longstanding tradition of libraries delivering public 
services within communities. This model works in both large town hubs and small rural 
settings ensuring services are more accessible, particularly for those who are digitally 
excluded, face mobility challenges, or need extra support due to sensory or cognitive 
impairments. 
 
Library Hubs bring together the traditional library offer with wider support services, creating 
a single, integrated experience for residents. They act as welcoming community spaces, 
offering cultural activities, heritage events, and business support, while reinforcing the 
library’s role as a trusted point for engagement and inclusion. 
 
 
The Library Hubs not only provide access to council services but also promote the core 
library offer, including books, reading, and literacy. These elements are central to the 
library's statutory responsibilities and contribute significantly to financial, educational, 
wellbeing, and social outcomes. 
 
At the heart of this model is a commitment to inclusion and personalised support. Each 
hub is tailored to meet the specific needs of its local community, offering resources in a 
variety of formats. Facilities include loop systems for the hearing impaired, large print 
materials, and autism-friendly environments. Staff are trained as Dementia Friends and 
are experienced in supporting individuals and families from diverse backgrounds, including 
those new to the area or with limited English proficiency. In line with national accessibility 
standards, the hubs also provide assistive technologies such as screen readers, 
magnification software, and accessible public PCs to ensure that blind and partially sighted 
users can access digital and physical resources with ease. 
 
Individual support is offered through a flexible, system that ranges from unassisted self-
service to full one-on-one assistance. Residents can independently use public PCs, Wi-Fi, 
scanners, and telephones, or receive light-touch guidance for simple tasks. For those 
needing more help, moderate to full support is available, including assistance with printing, 
digital skills training, and translation services. This ensures that everyone, regardless of 
their digital confidence or ability, can access the services they need. (See Appendix C for 
customer journeys). 
 
 

Page 5



Kirklees Libraries have gained regional and national recognition for their digital inclusion 
work, supported by partnerships with organisations such as the Good Things Foundation 
and the National Databank. Recent figures show libraries are evolving into community 
digital hubs, extending the council’s wider Digital Inclusion programme into more 
neighbourhoods. This shift is reflected in a 31.4% rise in library sessions in 2024/25 
(189,534 compared to 144,244 in 2023/24), driven by improved accessibility, expanded 
programming, and integrated customer services. Data highlights growing digital confidence 
among residents, broader outreach to sanctuary seekers and older adults, and inclusive 
design features such as private spaces, assistive technologies, and multilingual resources. 
See  Appendix D IT usage data. 
 
In addition to people accessing services, library staff routinely spot hidden needs and 
prevent issues from escalating. These interactions can lead to referrals to community or 
council services, such as Community Plus for social isolation, adult learning opportunities, 
or housing support. This wraparound approach helps address issues early, preventing 
them from escalating and promoting overall wellbeing. 
 
For more complex or sensitive enquiries, library hubs provide clear pathways to specialist 
services. These include referrals to Adult Social Care, safeguarding teams, and health 
services via social prescribing. This ensures that individuals with more intensive needs are 
connected to the appropriate support quickly and effectively. 
 
 
The Importance of raising awareness and the wider role of services and partners.  
 
Raising awareness of the Integrated Library Hubs is vital to ensuring that residents across 
Kirklees can access the full breadth of support available to them. These hubs exemplify 
the modern library model, offering a cohesive blend of traditional and contemporary 
services; they are dynamic, community-based access points that connect individuals to a 
wide range of support across the life course. The effectiveness of these hubs is 
underpinned by a coordinated, multi-agency approach, involving council departments, 
health services, voluntary and community sector organisations. 
 
Libraries are the borough’s most trusted and accessible gateways to support, where health 
and wellbeing programmes, employment and skills development, legal and financial 
advice, and cultural engagement are delivered in one central location. For example, health 
partners such as the Kirklees Wellness Service deliver health coaching, smoking 
cessation, and healthy weight programmes across various hubs throughout the year, while 
peer support groups like Andy’s Man Club operate from the Birstall library hub. 
Employment and skills support is provided through organisations such as Paddock Trust, 
which runs sessions at Batley, Birstall, Greenwood, Cleckheaton, and Heckmondwike 
Libraries, and C&K Careers, which offers guidance at Batley and Huddersfield (HF) 
Libraries. All Library Hubs also offer to host councillor surgeries and volunteering 
opportunities, further strengthening community engagement. 
 
In addition, collaborations with Locala enable expectant and new mothers to access 
midwifery services at Greenwood library hub, and partnerships with Investing in Children 
& Families Services offer practical support for families, including help with health 
conditions, poverty and safe spaces for excluded children to meet with tutors, ensuring 
continuity of learning.  
 
Libraries also collaborate closely with schools, early years providers, and family hubs to 
deliver literacy programmes, homework clubs, and parenting support sessions. These 
wraparound services not only reduce barriers and promote inclusion but also create a 
preventative network that tackles health inequalities, social isolation, and economic 
hardship at an early stage, ultimately reducing demand on statutory services and Page 6



strengthening community resilience. This integrated model demonstrates that libraries are 
not standalone entities but are integral to a wider network of community provision, 
delivering holistic, person-centred support in partnership with a diverse range of 
organisations. 
 
 
Implementation  
 

We have taken a phased approach to implementation, making the best use of available 

resources and embedding a culture of continuous learning. The first phase, focused on 

establishing the foundations and testing the model in key locations. Building on this 

experience, the second phase will refine and develop more tailored offers, informed by 

feedback and emerging needs, while broadening the approach across the entire library 

service. This iterative process ensures flexibility, sustainability, and responsiveness to the 

communities we serve. 
The development and promotion of the hubs were underpinned by extensive partnership 
working. A key milestone was the co-production of the customer pathways document, 
which clarified the scope of support available and ensured consistency in service delivery 
across all locations. Library staff were engaged early in the process through awareness 
sessions and weekly meetings, which allowed for real-time feedback and iterative updates 
to the pathways document. Senior staff provided on-the-ground support during the rollout, 
while Assistant Area Managers led training and maintained issues log to escalate concerns 
and refine the model. Shadowing opportunities at Huddersfield and Dewsbury hubs helped 
staff prepare for the wider launch.  
 
To maximise the impact of the hubs, a robust engagement strategy was implemented. This 
included social media campaigns, targeted outreach to underrepresented groups, and 
Volunteers and Friends of Groups played a key role in promotion through word-of-mouth 
and local networks. Weekly operational meetings with services such as Housing Solutions 
and Homes and Neighbourhoods ensured alignment and responsiveness to customer 
needs. This collaborative effort has ensured that the hubs are not only visible but also 
embedded in community life, offering a trusted and familiar space where residents can 
access the help they need. 
 
 
Early Learning from the 10 Library Hubs 
 
Data for this analysis is drawn from enquiry logs recorded across all Library Hubs between 
25 July 2024 and 25 November 2025. These logs capture the volume, type and duration 
of interactions, providing a useful snapshot of service demand and patterns of support. 
 
Highlights show that Library sessions rose by 31.4% in one year, a strong signal that 
residents trust and actively choose library‑based support. The model manages 46,000 plus 
short interactions and 2,000 plus more complex cases demonstrating both efficiency and 
capability. Enquiry patterns mirror traditional customer service centres, proving the model 
is absorbing that demand successfully across 10 localities. 
 
While this dataset offers valuable insights, it is not exhaustive: qualitative aspects such as 
user satisfaction, outcomes beyond the initial enquiry, and demographic details are not 
consistently captured. In addition, variations in recording practices between hubs can 
affect comparability. 
 
To address these limitations, a data development agenda is being progressed. This 
includes standardising data capture methods, expanding the range of metrics to include 
user experience and impact measures, and exploring integration with wider partnership Page 7



datasets. The aim is to create a more comprehensive evidence base to inform service 
design and continuous improvement.  
 
Notably, no complaints have been recorded during this period, which is a positive indicator 
of user experience but will be validated through future feedback mechanisms. 
 
Analysis of enquiry data across all Library Hubs from 25 July 2024 to 25 November 2025 
reveals several key insights that are shaping future planning and service design. The 
majority of enquiries are resolved quickly, with over 46,193 (63%) interactions completed 
in under 5 minutes, 20,184 (27%) within 5–10 minutes and a further 5,064 (7%) within 10–
20 minutes. However, 2,156 (3%) enquiries required 20 minutes or longer, indicating a 
consistent need for in-depth, enabling support.  
 

 
Figure 1: Length of time taken for library staff member to assist with customer enquiries. 
 
These longer interactions are most commonly associated with Blue Badge applications 
(Blue Badge application are not a process run by the Library Hubs, they just support 
application completion), Council Tax and Benefits, Housing Solutions, Local Welfare 
Provision, and support for Disabled Travel, services that often involve complex eligibility 
criteria, document verification, or digital form completion. This reinforces the importance of 
maintaining staff capacity for one-to-one support and ensuring access to assistive 
technology and offering resources in a variety of formats. Alongside this it is key that staff 
have remained able to continue to feedback the learning about processes and pathways 
to inform change where appropriate.   
 

  

Page 8



 
Figure 2: Total enquiries across all library hubs  
 

 
 
 
Enquiry volumes peaked in January 2025 with the highest activity recorded 461 enquiries 
in one day. This spike was probably linked to the launch of the additional 8 hubs but may 
also suggest a post-holiday surge in demand, likely linked to council tax, benefits, and 
winter support services. Weekly trends show steady engagement through March and April, 
averaging 1,300–1,400 enquiries per week, before dipping in early May, possibly due to 
bank and easter holidays. 
 
The most common enquiry types across all hubs were Library Enquiries (75%), Council 
Tax & Benefits (10%), Housing Solutions (5%), Blue Badge (5%), and Homes & 
Neighbourhoods (5%). 
 
Patterns of need have largely mirrored those seen in Customer Service Centres, with 
enquiries continuing to focus on core issues such as council tax, benefits, and housing. 
However, what we are increasingly able to identify and respond to through the place-based 
model is the wider, holistic needs of residents. This includes connecting individuals to 
wraparound support such as debt advice, employment services, and wellbeing initiatives, 
ensuring that enquiries are not treated in isolation but addressed as part of a broader 
package of assistance tailored to local circumstances.  

Page 9



 
Figure 3: Most common service enquiries (excluding library enquiries) 
 
Huddersfield and Dewsbury account for the highest volumes of total enquiries excluding 
library enquiries (17, 246 and 5,986 respectively) from July 2024 to November 2025.  
 
The other eight locations launched in January 2025, so the data is for a shorter period. 
Holmfirth (234), Heckmondwike (155), Batley (161), Cleckheaton (147), Birstall (101), 
Greenwood Centre (33), Kirkburton (33) and Almondbury (32). Uptake across all library 
hub locations demonstrates the value of a distributed model. These hubs are actively 
supporting a wide range of services, including planning, waste services, and adult social 
care, often in areas with higher levels of digital exclusion or transport barriers. Smaller 
hubs like Almondbury, Kirkburton, and Greenwood Centre also show consistent usage, 
especially for digital access and signposting. 
 
Recent activity shows steady engagement across all hubs, with notable spikes in Batley, 
Birstall, and Dewsbury on weekends, suggesting these locations are key for out-of-hours 
access.  
 
How learning is informing future developments 
 
By co-locating multiple services in accessible community spaces, the hubs increase early 
identification of need, reduce duplication, and allow specialist teams to focus on complex 
cases. 
 
The need for robust data to inform targeted interventions, and the benefits of empowering 
staff to hold enabling conversations that lead to early identification of wider needs. This 
evidence base is to be developed further to directly inform our next phases of development. Page 10



 
Looking ahead, we plan to work closely with Adult Social Care (ASC) to better understand 
presenting needs and enable more proactive, tailored support, such as increased 
identification of early intervention referrals. We will strengthen learning around the 
integrated ASC front door ensuring access to preventative services at the earliest point, 
across both the council and health services, embedding the hubs as delivery points for 
broader health services, community social work, and other frontline teams. For example, 
work has commenced to review the supporting scripts used as part of the Community Adult 
Social Care Hub to ensure people are directed to early intervention and prevention support 
at all stages. 
 
To improve public awareness and accessibility, we are developing a comprehensive and 
user-friendly web page that clearly outlines the Library Hub offer and how to access it. We 
also intend to expand the model increased face-to-face support clinics, including benefits 
advice, adult social care support and Assistive Technology. 
 
Finally, we plan to explore how work with Community Anchors and Community Champions 
could extend the hub model beyond libraries into other community venues, using local 
insight to identify unmet needs and shape delivery. These plans reflect our commitment to 
continuous improvement, ensuring the Library Hubs remain inclusive, adaptive, and rooted 
in the communities they serve. 
 

The next phase will build on lessons learned to develop more tailored offers and extend 

the hub model across the library service. Continuous improvement will be driven by 

feedback from staff, partners, and customers, ensuring pathways, training, and 

engagement strategies remain effective. Strong partnerships with internal services and 

community groups will be maintained and expanded to keep hubs responsive and 

inclusive. Progress will be monitored while risks such as resource constraints or digital 

exclusion will be actively managed to ensure sustainability. 
 
Learning from the implementation of the Integrated Library Hubs has been instrumental in 
shaping our forward strategy. Insights gained from delivering holistic, place-based support, 
particularly around digital inclusion, personalised assistance, and community engagement, 
have highlighted the importance of flexible, locally responsive models.  

 
How we support Volunteers 
 
Kirklees Libraries work with over 400 volunteers across 24 sites; retention levels of 
volunteers have remained consistent over the last few years. We recognise volunteers as 
essential partners in delivering a sustainable, community-rooted library hub service. 
Volunteers are recruited through a centralised process, often in collaboration with 
Volunteering Kirklees, and matched to roles that reflect their interests and skills. A 
structured onboarding process, supported by resource packs and a central contact point, 
ensures consistency and accessibility.  
 
Volunteers are offered a wide range of training opportunities, including induction, digital 
skills, safeguarding, and customer service, and are supported by experienced staff and 
peer networks. Many volunteers go on to lead their own activities, contributing to a vibrant 
and responsive service offer. For example, supporting rhyme time and arts and craft 
groups. The service also held a volunteer appreciation event during volunteer week to 
celebrate 10 years of incredible support from library volunteers which equates to 220,000 
hours of support. See Appendix E for more details.  
 
 

Page 11



The service is currently refining its approach based on recent volunteer feedback, with 
improvements to rota management, clearer role definitions, and more flexible 
opportunities. Volunteers are not only seen as contributors but as community connectors 
who bring local knowledge, build trust, and extend the reach of the library service.  
 
Looking ahead, Kirklees Libraries aim to expand volunteer-led services such as the Home 
Library Service and community events, to develop a refreshed Volunteering Framework 
focused on inclusion and wellbeing and strengthen community interest and support for their 
local Library. A key focus will be to attract more volunteers across all locations and support 
the development of an increased number of Friends of Groups. There is also a clear 
ambition to attract younger and more diverse volunteers, recognising the role of 
volunteering in supporting employability, social connection, and mental health. These 
developments reflect a commitment to valuing volunteers as co-creators of the library 
experience and ensuring they are supported, recognised, and empowered to make a 
meaningful impact. 
 

3. Implications for the Council 
 

3.1      Council Plan 
 
The Integrated Library Hubs initiative directly supports the Kirklees Council Plan 2025–26 by 
embodying its commitment to “working with people and partners using a place-based 
approach” and “delivering efficiently and effectively”.  
 
The model also supports the councils 4 priorities: 
 
Getting the basics right 
 
The Library Hubs modernise service delivery by combining customer services, digital 
access, and library functions in one place, resolving most enquiries quickly and operating 
within existing budgets. This streamlined model improves consistency, reduces duplication, 
and delivers better value for money. 
 
Protecting the vulnerable and achieving inclusion 
 
Hubs provide personalised help for residents who face digital, sensory, mobility, or language 
barriers, supported by trained staff and accessible environments. They also offer clear links 
to specialist services such as housing, benefits, adult social care and safeguarding, ensuring 
vulnerable people receive timely support. 
 
Thriving people and communities 
 
By hosting cultural activities, health programmes, digital skills support, literacy work, and 
community groups, the hubs act as inclusive, local spaces that reduce isolation and 
strengthen wellbeing. Their place‑based design ensures support is tailored to local needs, 
helping communities stay connected and resilient. 
 
Local economic growth and partnership working 
 
The hubs enhance digital access, support employability through careers and skills sessions, 
and reduce travel by bringing services closer to residents. Partnership working—with health 
providers, voluntary groups, schools, and national digital inclusion organisations—broadens 
opportunities and strengthens local economic participation. 
 
 
 Page 12



 
3.2 Financial Implications  

 
The development of the Library Hubs created a £950K saving to the council in 2024/2025 
budget year. The model is operating within the constraints of its set budget with no overspend 
risks. 
 
The total budget allocated to the Library Service in 2025/2026 is £4,450,725.  
 

3.3      Legal Implications   
 
N/A 
 

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 
 
This model of deliver supports the council’s ambition to reduce carbon emissions and 
improve air quality through reducing the distance residents need to travel to access 
support. In many cases removing transport all together with Hubs in walking distance of 
residents’ home and places of work or education.  
 

3.5     Other (eg Risk, Integrated Impact Assessment or Human Resources)  
  
  The main risks associated with the report have already been identified and are reflected 
 within the directorate and corporate risk register, and as outlined in the ‘Implications for 
 the Council’s’ section in this report. 

An IAA was undertaken in 2024 to assess the impact of the Integrated Library Hub  
 model. This will continue to be monitored. Libraries IIA 2024 

Human Resources 
 

There is a phased recruitment plan to ensure a fully staffed model, and this is nearing 

completion.  

 
4. Consultation  

 
Formal consultation with staff within the customer service centres including unions took 
place in 2024 prior to the implementation of the model. 
 

5. Engagement 
 
Informal community engagement commenced in early 2024 as part of the libraries service 
change planning. This included engagement with Library stakeholders such as Friends of 
Groups, Volunteers and trustees as well as ward, town and parish councillors.  
 
This engagement will remain an active ongoing process, with regular communication with 
all stakeholders and support to develop each of the library’s community plans. 
 

6. Options   
 

6.1     Options considered  
  

These are detailed in the report presented to cabinet on Strength-Based Integrated 
Community Library and Customer Service Functions (20 February 2024) and Future of the 
Library Service – Cabinet Report (10 September 2024). Page 13

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/integrated-impact-assessments/home/details/IIA-583909848/


 
6.2     Reasons for recommended option   
    

See above papers. 
 

7. Next steps and timelines 
 
Scrutiny to acknowledge the progress achieved so far and the positive impact of the initial 
implementation phase and to provide feedback to inform the next stages of delivery.  
 
Throughout 2026, we will develop and expand services informed by scrutiny feedback and 
recommendations, focusing on data-driven support, stronger partnerships, improved 
accessibility, wider community reach, and inclusive volunteering. 
 

8. Contact officer  
 
Mags Rogerson – Head of Local Integrated Partnerships 
 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
Report presented to cabinet on Strength-Based Integrated Community Library and 
Customer Service Functions (20 February 2024): Cabinet Report 20-2-24 and Future of 
the Library Service – Cabinet Report (10 September 2024): Cabinet Report 10-9-24 
 

10. Appendices 
 
A - Locality Maps 
B - Models of Support 
C - Example Customer Journey: Unassisted Self-Serve at a Library Hub 
D - IT usage data 
E - Core Activities Led by Library Volunteers 

 
 

11. Service Director responsible  
 

Jill Greenfield – Service Director for Customer and Access Services 
 

  

Page 14

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s55566/CABINET%20REPORT%20-%20Strength%20Based%20Integrated%20Community%20Library%20and%20customer%20service%20functions%20assets.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s59302/Future%20of%20the%20Library%20Service%20Cabinet%20Report%20FINAL.pdf


Appendix A 
 
The distribution of library locations is central to reach into communities, where services have 
traditionally struggled to engage and in a non-stigmatising way. The map below shows that with 
the model of 10 Hub libraries and 14 Community libraries within the statutory service, 92.3% of 
residential properties are within two miles walking distance of one of these 24 libraries. 
 

 
 
 
 
This map shows the current location of the 24 libraries (in green) set against the areas of 
deprivation heat map. 
 

 
 
 
 Page 15



 
Appendix B 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 16



Appendix C 
 
Example Customer Journey: Unassisted Self-Serve at a Library Hub 
 
1. Arrival and Orientation 
 
A resident enters the local Library Hub (e.g. Huddersfield, Kirkburton, or Dewsbury). 
A Meet and Greet Officer is present but does not intervene unless approached. Signage and 
layout clearly indicate available self-serve options. 
 
2. Identifying Needs 
 
The customer independently identifies the service they require—this could include: 
Uploading documents for Council Tax Reduction or Housing Benefit. 
Using a public PC to access the ‘Choose’n’Move’ housing portal. 
Using a self-help phone to contact Local Welfare Provision or Housing Solutions. 
Accessing Wi-Fi to complete an online form on their own device. 
 
3. Using Facilities 
 
The customer uses: 
Self-help scanner to submit documents for services like Blue Badge or Client Financial Affairs. 
Public PC to access council services, check school admissions, or apply for a bus pass. 
Self-help phone to speak with a service team directly (e.g. Housing Repairs or Community Health 
and Social Care Hub). 
 
4. Optional Signposting 
 
If the customer encounters difficulty, they may approach staff for light-touch support (e.g. help 
locating a form or uploading a document), but this is not required for unassisted journeys. 
 
5. Completion and Exit 
 
Once the task is completed, the customer leaves without needing further interaction. 
If additional needs are identified (e.g. social isolation, digital exclusion), staff may offer signposting 
to Community Plus or other wraparound services—but only if the customer initiates contact 
 
 
Example Customer Journeys for Assisted Self-Serve Models 
 
1. Light Touch Support 

 
Customer: A resident arrives at the Batley Library Hub needing to upload a proof of address for a 
Council Tax Reduction application. 
 
Journey: 
 

 Greeted by a staff member who identifies that the customer knows what they need but is 
unsure how to use the scanner. 

 Staff show the customer how to use the self-help scanner and guide them to the correct 
online form on a public PC. 

 The customer completes the upload independently after the initial guidance. 

 Staff remain nearby in case further help is needed but do not intervene unless asked. 
 
Outcome: The customer gains confidence in using digital tools and is likely to self-serve 
independently next time 1. Page 17



 
2. Moderate Support 

 
Customer: A resident at the Cleckheaton Hub needs to report a change in circumstances affecting 
their Housing Benefit but is unsure which form to use. 
 
Journey: 
 

 Staff member conducts a short conversation to understand the nature of the change. 

 They help the customer identify the correct form and explain what information is needed 
(e.g. National Insurance number). 

 The customer begins completing the form on a PC with occasional help navigating sections 
and uploading documents. 

 Staff check the form before submission to ensure no sections have been missed. 
 
Outcome: The customer completes the task with guided support and learns how to navigate 
council systems more confidently enabling self-completion in the future 
 
3. Full Support 

 
Customer: An elderly resident at the Ravensthorpe Hub needs to apply for a Blue Badge but 
cannot use a PC or phone independently. 
 
Journey: 
 

 Staff member acts as an advocate, asking the resident questions and completing the online 
form on their behalf. 

 They use a tablet to take and upload a photo for the application. 

 If unsure about any part of the process, the staff member contacts the relevant service 
(e.g. KD) on the customer’s behalf. 

 The resident is reassured and supported throughout, with no expectation to use digital 
tools directly. 

 Holistic conversations with the customer at the time of supporting them helps to identify 
other support needs ie wishing to attend some community activities, with consent an 
introduction to a community plus staff member working from the library is made to explore 
options suitable for the customer. 

 
Outcome: The customer receives the service they need without digital barriers, and staff ensure 
the process is completed accurately and compassionately. Additional needs are supported at the 
same time to support longer term independence. 
 
  

Page 18



 
Appendix D – IT Usage 
 
 
The chart below shows a library-by-library comparison of public access IT usage between 
2023/24 and 2024/25, revealing a 31% overall increase. Most libraries experienced notable 
growth, with Rawthorpe & Dalton (+56%), Kirkheaton (+55%), and Meltham (+53%) leading the 
surge. This widespread rise suggests a growing reliance on digital services and successful efforts 
to enhance IT accessibility across the library network. 
 
 

 
  

Page 19



 
Appendix E 
 
 
Core Activities Led by Library Volunteers 
 
Children’s Programming Volunteers frequently lead or support: 
 

 Storytime sessions and class visits 

 Craft activities during school holidays 

 Lego clubs, including setting up, creating themes, and facilitating sessions  
 

Community Events and Social Activities Volunteers help organise and run: 
 

 Seasonal celebrations (e.g. VE Day events with themed decorations and music)  

 Soup and a Roll sessions, providing refreshments and conversation  

 Local festivals and outreach events, often acting as friendly hosts  
 
Creative and Cultural Engagement Many volunteers bring their own passions to the library, such 
as: 
 

 Leading yoga classes  

 Hosting poetry readings, music events, or heritage celebrations  

 Supporting arts and crafts groups, including knitting and sculpture  
 
Operational and Customer Support Volunteers contribute to the day-to-day running of libraries 
by: 
 

 Shelving and processing books 

 Assisting customers with IT and finding resources 

 Opening and closing libraries (in some cases, independently)  
 
Specialist and Outreach Services 
 

 Supporting the Home Library Service for housebound residents  

 Acting as community connectors, signposting to services and building trust  

 Participating in Friends of Library groups and management committees  
 
Place-Based and Inclusive Support Volunteers are matched to roles that reflect their interests and 
strengths, including: 
 

 Supporting people with dementia or those experiencing loneliness  

 Helping to deliver inclusive services in integrated library hubs  
 
Training and Peer Support 
 

 Some experienced volunteers help train new recruits through shadowing  

 Volunteers also co-develop and participate in training on safeguarding, digital skills, and 
customer service 

Page 20



 

1 
 

 
 

 
REPORT TITLE: Member Development Framework 
  

Meeting:  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee 
 

Date:  
 

13 February 2026 
 
 

Cabinet Member (if applicable) 
 

Cllr Dad - Cabinet Member - Adult Social 
Care and Corporate 

Key Decision 
Eligible for Call In 
 

No 
No 

Purpose of Report  
This report sets out details of a draft Member Development Framework that seeks to 
support the development of all Councillors in Kirklees, providing them with the skills and 
knowledge to carry out their roles. 
 

Recommendations  
OSMC are asked to note and comment on the contents of the draft framework in advance of 
a final report being submitted to Full Council. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 
The views and input of scrutiny on the draft Framework will inform the finalised document, 
prior to submission to full Council for approval.  
 

Resource Implications: 
There are no direct resource implications. The training and development opportunities 
included in the Framework will be met from within existing resources, requiring input from 
relevant departments as required 
 

Date signed off by Executive Director & 
name 
 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Legal Governance and 
Commissioning (Monitoring Officer)? 
 

Rachel Spencer-Henshall – Deputy Chief 
Executive and Executive Director for Public 
Health and Corporate Resources  
 
 
 
 
 
Samantha Lawton – Service Director Legal 
& Commissioning  
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

Electoral wards affected: All 
 
Ward councillors consulted: Group Leaders and individual independent Councillors were 
consulted on the draft scope of the Framework.  
 
Public or private: Public 
 
Has GDPR been considered? Not applicable 
 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The attached Member Development Framework (Appendix 1) has been drafted following 

a recommendation from the Corporate Peer Challenge. The Framework sets out our 
commitment to supporting Members with their continuous development, and details how 
we will equip Members with the skills and knowledge needed to fulfil their roles 
effectively. Input and comments from the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee are invited in advance of a finalised Member Development Framework being 
submitted to Full Council.  
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 

2.1  The Local Government Association (LGA) came to Kirklees Council in November 2024 to 
carry out a corporate peer challenge, which is a key part of the LGA’s improvement and 
assurance framework and is required at least every five years. The LGA produced a 
feedback report which included a number of recommendations which were incorporated 
into an action plan which was agreed by Cabinet on 8th April. One recommendation 
related to the importance of the Council continuing to work at good governance across a 
range of issues including Member Development Programmes. 

2,2 The Councillor Development Framework sets out Kirklees Council’s approach to 

supporting the ongoing development and excellence of its elected councillors. The 

framework outlines a clear vision: to ensure all councillors have the skills, knowledge, 

and support needed to fulfil their roles effectively and to deliver the Council’s strategic 

priorities. Developed in consultation with councillors, the framework is designed to be 

flexible and inclusive, offering a range of learning opportunities regardless of experience, 

seniority, or political affiliation. 

2.3 Key elements include: 

 A robust induction programme for councillors, ensuring they are well-prepared for their 

roles. 

 Ongoing training and development covering core skills, committee responsibilities, 

compliance, and leadership. 

 Support for all councillors and the Mayor, with training delivered through a mix of in-

person, online, and partnership-based methods. 

 Commitment to inclusivity and accessibility, ensuring all councillors can participate 

fully, with adjustments for different needs and learning styles. 

 Regular review and evaluation of the framework to ensure it remains relevant and 

effective, with feedback mechanisms in place. 

Page 22



 

3 
 

2.4  The framework also includes an illustrative schedule of development sessions for 2025–

2026, covering induction, IT support, chairing skills, corporate parenting, service 

overviews, and social media training. This approach aims to equip councillors with the 

tools and confidence to serve their communities and contribute to the Council’s ambitions 

for Kirklees. 

3. Implications for the Council 
 

3.1 Council Plan 
The Member Development Framework aligns closely to the Council Plan to ensure all 
activities contribute to delivery of key priorities to meet the needs of our diverse 
communities. 
 

3.2 Financial Implications  
None directly 
 

3.3 Legal Implications   
The Localism Act, 2011, requires the Council to have a Code of Conduct and a formal 
standards process in place. It is important for the Council to make sure that it complies 
with this obligation and ensures that elected members are both trained and supported in 
modelling good behaviours. 
 

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 
None directly 
 

3.5      Other (e.g. Risk, Integrated Impact Assessment or Human Resources)  
None directly 

  
4. Consultation  

Prior to drafting the Member Development Framework, consultation on the scope of the 
Framework was undertaken with all Group Leaders via individual in person sessions. 
Individual Independent Councillors were also contacted for views and input on the 
proposed scope along with Group Business Manager and the Standards Committee. 
Members were generally supportive of the proposed approach and whilst recognising the 
importance of ensuring all Members are equipped with the skills and knowledge to fulfil 
their duties, the responsibilities of individual Members and Groups within the process 
was also raised. 
 

5. Engagement 
The Member Development Framework will be subject to ongoing engagement with 
Elected Members through regular evaluation and discussion with Member Champions or 
Group Business Managers. 
 

6. Options   
 

6.1     Options considered  
The option of not developing the Framework would have resulted in the Council not 
responding to a recommendation arising from the Corporate Peer Challenge.  
 

6.2     Reasons for recommended option   
Seeking views and input from scrutiny ensures the Framework is developed through 
engagement with Elected Members. 

Page 23



 

4 
 

7. Next steps and timelines 
Following consideration by OSMC, the Member Development Framework will be 
submitted to Full Council on 11 March 2026.  
 

8. Contact officers 
Leigh Webb - Head of Governance email – leigh.webb@kirklees.gov.uk) 
Deborah Nicholson - Councillor Support & Liaison Manager email – 
deborah.nicholson@kirklees.gov.uk  
 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 

10. Appendices 
Appendix A – Member Development Framework  
 

11. Service Director responsible  
Samantha Lawton, Service Director Legal & Commissioning  
 

 

Page 24

mailto:leigh.webb@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:deborah.nicholson@kirklees.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                                                              Appendix 1 

 

Councillor Development Framework 
Supporting Councillor Excellence in Kirklees 

 

Page 25



 

 

Table of Contents 
Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 1 

Our Vision and Ambition ....................................................................................................... 1 

The Councillor Framework aims to: ......................................................................................... 2 

Our Vision Principles ............................................................................................................. 2 

Ownership .................................................................................................................................. 3 

The Council will: ..................................................................................................................... 4 

Political Groups will: .............................................................................................................. 4 

Councillor Development Framework ........................................................................................ 5 

Councillor Induction ............................................................................................................... 5 

Council/Committees ............................................................................................................... 5 

Mayoral Support ..................................................................................................................... 5 

Core Skills ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Ad-hoc training ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Review and Monitoring of the Framework ........................................................................... 6 

Councillor Development Programme May 2025 – April 2026 ............................................. 7 

Page 26



 

 1 

Introduction 

 

We recognise Councillors bring with them a diverse range of skills and experience and we are 

committed to ensuring that each of our Councillors receive the support they need to enhance 

their skills and enable them to fulfil their elected role in serving their communities and be 

consistent with the principles of good governance. 

This Framework, put in place for Councillor Development, provides a robust programme to 

enable Councillors and ensure they have the appropriate skills to respond to future challenges 

and legislative changes which will help the Council deliver on its ambition and strategic 

priorities. 

It has been developed in consultation with Councillors to ensure that their development is 

relevant, appropriate to their needs and provides Councillors with the necessary ‘tools for the 

job.’ This is a flexible Framework for Councillors to access the learning, support and 

development they need as well as setting out the support officers will provide and which will 

evolve as required to reflect changing priorities and circumstances. 

In this Framework, ‘Councillor Development’ is any activity or training that is intended to help 

support their communities, enhance/further develop the knowledge and skills of Councillors both 

in their individual roles and in their collective roles so as to meet the Council’s priorities and any 

individual aims of benefit in their role. 

Our Vision and Ambition 

The vision is for all elected Councillors to have the necessary skills outlined in Role Profiles and 
knowledge to perform successfully in their current or future roles within the Council. 

This vision is shaped by the principles of “Our Council” and demonstrates Kirklees Council’s 
commitment to the development of all its elected Councillors (including the Mayor) as a key to 
success in delivering high quality and valued services to the public. The Council believes that 
Councillors play a pivotal role in supporting our communities. 

The Council supports the Group selection, recruitment and retention of high-quality individuals 
from all sectors of the community across Kirklees into local government as Councillors and 
believes that a robust and inclusive development programme will be the foundation to 
successful leadership succession planning and meeting the needs of their communities. 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

 2 

The Councillor Framework aims to: 

 Support elected Councillors to fulfil their roles  

 Ensure that a long-term view is taken of Councillor Development that also affords 

flexibility to reflect changing priorities. 

 Ensure each Councillor has appropriate skills and access to training which will enable 

them to be successful in their roles, so that they can better serve their constituents and 

communities. 

 Continue to develop a clear structured Councillor Development Framework that responds 

to Councillor and organisational needs. 

 Enable the sharing of learning and good practice within Groups. 

 Ensure Councillors have a full understanding of, and are confident in, their different roles, 

for example: decision-making; scrutiny; community leadership; representation on outside 

organisations. 

 Ensure that all newly elected Councillors are properly inducted into the Council and their 

role and provide updated training for existing and returning Members. 

Our Vision Principles 

To help achieve this vision, the following principles will apply: 

 Training and development is available to all Councillors, and its take-up will be 

encouraged for all Councillors and the Mayor irrespective of seniority, length of service 

or political affiliation and will be provided in accordance with the Council’s commitment 

to inclusive opportunities for all. 

 Groups will be asked to identify a Member Champion or Group Business Manager who 

will be consulted on Councillor training and development on behalf of the Council 

including strategies and programmes for Councillors and the Councillor Induction 

Programme and, who will encourage and promote a culture of learning and continuous 

improvement. 

 Kirklees Council is committed to the principle of inclusivity for its residents and for 

Councillors irrespective of age, disability, ethnicity, gender, race, religion, sexual 

orientation or marital status. Additionally, the working commitments of Councillors 

should not be a barrier to learning and development. 

 Development activities will be based upon agreed training needs as identified through 

121s and Personal Development Reviews (PDRs) undertaken within Groups. 

 Councillor Development will be delivered through methods which ensure inclusive 

access and taking into account different learning styles. 

 The Council will recognise that Councillors may have transferable skills which can be 

utilised in the Council to help them perform their Council role. 

 Where appropriate and possible, officers and Councillors will be trained together, to 

help build trust, mutual understanding, co-operation and more sustainable relationships. 

 

Page 28



 

 3 

Ownership 

 

The effectiveness of this framework is dependent upon the commitment of both officers and 
Councillors. Officers will be expected to identify appropriate learning opportunities and support 
Councillors to access those opportunities, support Councillors who choose to do so to and 
collate and record feedback on training and provide support to the Member Champions. 

Councillors are asked to make a commitment to their own individual learning and development 
and engage in activities that are offered to them. 

The Council has a responsibility to demonstrate compliance with its legal obligations and to 
provide training to Councillors that enables them to fulfil their role safe from undue criticism. To 
help the Council in doing this, Councillors are required to participate in activities that are 
identified as being: 

 Essential Training 

Appeals Panel 

Standards and Code of Conduct 

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 

Licensing Panel 

Planning Committee 

Failure to undertake Essential Training would preclude Councillors from taking a decision in 
relation to the remit of the relevant Committee and/or may constitute a breach of the Code of 
Conduct which all Councillors are required to adhere to. 

Councillors are also encouraged to participate in activities that are identified as being: 

 Compliance Training 

Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding 

Chairing skills 

 

Councillors are asked to provide honest feedback using the feedback mechanisms provided at 
the end of each activity so that officers can review and evaluate the effectiveness of the learning 
and development programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

 4 

The Council will: 

 Encourage and support all Councillors to develop their roles using those in the agreed 
Councillor Role Profile. 

 Plan formal events or training sessions in advance as possible to avoid clashes and the 
committee cycle. 

 Make all Councillors aware of development opportunities available through all means 
possible, including email, Group Business Manager meetings and Member Champions. 

 Ensure Councillors are equipped with the necessary skills to make maximum use of all 
sources of learning, including internet and social media sources. 

 Use a variety of delivery methods including face to face training, remote means such as 
Microsoft Teams, and e-learning. 

 We will work, kindly and flexibly, and assist those with special needs, family or work 
commitments to carry out their role as a Councillor. 

 Development activities will be considered to ensure value for money and events will be 
reviewed to ensure quality and effectiveness. 

 Where possible, events will be carried out on a partnership basis within the Region and 
other partner organisations. 

 Regularly evaluate the Councillor Development Framework, with input from Councillors. 

Political Groups will: 

 Help Councillors identify development needs and consider this at least annually by a 

combination of organisational, statutory and individual requirements.  

 Group Leaders, Group Business Managers, Cabinet Members and Member Champions 

will promote the opportunities available through the Councillor Development Framework 

to their respective Councillors and encourage participation. 

 Councillors will be encouraged and supported to consider their developmental needs 

through a 121 or other tool and to assist them in identifying their learning and skills. 

 Create the right environment where learning is encouraged and supported. 

  

Page 30



 

 5 

Councillor Development Framework 

It is proposed that the Councillor Development Framework will be delivered through the 

following themes: 

Councillor Induction 

All new Councillors will be required to undertake the Councillor Induction in the first few months 

following election. This will cover the basic areas of knowledge necessary and will allow 

Councillors to participate within a supportive environment. 

The Induction will be delivered in person or in part as e-learning and each Councillor will receive 

an Induction Pack containing helpful and practical information to assist them in their new role. 

Induction sessions will also be open to existing Councillors. 

Council/Committees 

The training provided under this category will be aimed at those who may have an additional 

role such as committee member, or committee chair. 

It will include understanding how officers support Councillors at committees and will include 

both essential and compliance training. 

Councillors will be supported to have an awareness of the social, economic, environmental, and 

legal context in which the Council operates and how the Council works with partners, including 

local partners, regional partners such as the Combined Authority, and national partners such as 

government departments or agencies. This includes understanding the impact of external 

decisions and activity on how the Council operates (e.g. new Government policy, or regional 

programmes). 

Training will be held annually in respect of each of the Council’s Committees, including on how 

the Council conducts its business. The courses will take place at the first meeting of each 

Committee following the Annual General Meeting and will outline the terms of reference and 

provide any information needed to participate fully in the work of the Committee. 

Mayoral Support 

Training and support are provided to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor including a full Civic 

induction, Council Chamber equipment training and a briefing on Council Procedure Rules (and 

ongoing support). 

 

Page 31



 

 6 

Public speaking training will also be provided if required and additional Civic training is 

organised by the National Association of Civic Officers.  

Core Skills 

This training will enable Councillors to undertake development that will enable them to fulfil their 

roles in the best way possible.  

Training will be provided in matters such as community leadership, effective negotiating and 

influencing skills, community engagement, conflict resolution, evaluating reports and framing 

questions etc. Councillors will also be supported with use of technology to help them work as 

efficiently as possible. 

Ad-hoc training 

This will be training identified by officers and Councillors, informed by the learning needs 

following 121 discussions with GBMs/Member Champions and will be subject to appropriate 

budget being in place. This will also include training for Councillors identified for leadership roles 

or specific responsibilities. As part of the approval process Councillors are asked to cascade 

their learning to Committee or political groups as appropriate. Training will be delivered through 

a varied programme provided by but not limited to in-house officers, through the Council’s 

Learning Management System, external trainers or LGA resources. 

Development sessions will be promoted throughout the year. 

Review and Monitoring of the Framework 

It is vital that Councillors are well equipped to undertake their work and be effective as local 

representatives.  

We will we measure the effectiveness in implementing the Framework:  

 An annual questionnaire will be sent to Councillors regarding confidence in role and 
knowledge of various areas such as decision making, scrutiny, ethics etc. 

 An increase in the number of Councillors undertaking development activities – data 
analysis. 

 Review and analysis of feedback forms and attendance statistics where the Council has 
provided the event. 

The Councillor Development Framework will be reviewed regularly by the Member Champions 

and the Head of Governance. 

Page 32



 

 7 

Councillor Development Programme May 2025 – April 2026 (for illustrative 

Purposes only) 

Table 1: Table of Events for Councillor Induction and Development 

Date Time Session Purpose Facilitator Delivery Attendees / Notes 

Monday 

11 May 

10am – 
4pm 

Welcome to 
Kirklees 
Council 

To meet the Chief 
Executive, Executive 
Directors and key officers 
who will welcome you to 
Kirklees and let you know 
about the support you will 
receive during your Term of 
Office 

Deborah Nicholson 

Councillor Support 
& Liaison Manager 

In person 

Huddersfield Town Hall 

All new/returning 
elected Councillors 

Tuesday 

12 May 

10am – 
4pm 

IT Equipment 
and Councillor 
Support 

Receive your IT equipment, 
spend time with support 
staff who will go through 
how to access your e-mails 
and online agendas. Get 
your ID badge, car parking 
permit, have a photo taken 
for the website 

Deborah Nicholson 

Councillor Support 
& Liaison Manager 

In person 

Huddersfield Town Hall 

All new/returning 
elected Councillors 

REST OF AGREED INDUCTION SESSIONS TO BE ADDED ONCE FINALISED  

Monday 22 
June 

9.30am - 
3.30pm 

Chairing Skills Learn how to chair face-to-
face or online meetings, 
pick up skills and 
techniques and how you 
can deal with challenging 
situations 

Person X X 

Job title X X 

Local Government 
Association 

In person 

Dewsbury Town Hall 

Open to all 
Councillors 

Tuesday 23 
June 

10 am – 
2.pm 

Corporate 
Parenting 

Hear about the role of 
Corporate Parent and what 
this means for you as a 
Councillor. 

Officer X X  

Job title X X 

Online via Microsoft Teams Compliance Training 
for all Councillors P

age 33



 

 8 

Date Time Session Purpose Facilitator Delivery Attendees / Notes 

Wednesday 
24 June 

6pm – 
8pm 

Spotlight on 
Services 

Come along and find out 
more about the X X 
service. Meet the team, 
have a cuppa and put a 
face to a name 

Service X X In person 

Civic Centre 1 

Open to all 
Councillors 

Saturday 
27 June 

10am-
12pm 

Social Media 
Training 

New to social media or 
been doing it for years. 
Come along to this 
interactive session where 
you can pick up tips and 
understand what to avoid 

Officers X X In person 

Batley Town Hall 

Open to all 
Councillors 

 

P
age 34


	Agenda
	2 Declaration of Interests
	6 Integrated Library Hubs: Early Learning, Community Engagement, and Place-Based Support for the Future
	7 Member Development Framework
	DRAFT - Councillor Development Framework OSMC 13.2.26




